PB 278 930

SEISMIC HARDENING OF UNREINFORCED MASONRY WALLS THROUGH A SURFACE TREATMENT

BY JAMES R. CAGLEY

THIS RESEARCH WAS CONDUCTED WITH THE SUPPORT OF THE NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION. HOWEVER, ANY OPINIONS, FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS OR RECOMMENDATIONS EXPRESSED IN THIS REPORT ARE THOSE OF THE AUTHORS AND DO NOT NECESSARILY REFLECT THE VIEWS OF NSF.

PHASE I REPORT ON A RESEARCH PROJECT SPONSORED BY THE NATIONAL SCIENCE FOUNDATION Contract No. NSF-C-AEN77-19888 31 March 1978 REPRODUCED BY NATIONAL TECHNICAL INFORMATION SERVICE U. S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE SPRINGFIELD, VA. 22161



MARTIN & CAGLEY Structural Engineers Will co Building 6000 Executive Blvd. Rockville, Md. 20852

- - - -

SUMMARY

SEISMIC HARDENING OF UNREINFORCED MASONRY WALLS THROUGH A SURFACE TREATMENT

The primary objective of this project was to determine the feasibility of using a coating or surface treatment to achieve seismic hardening of unreinforced masonry walls.

This was accomplished by assembling available information on methods of reinforcing existing masonry which are now in use, by reviewing available test data of unreinforced masonry, by researching available coatings, by determining anticipated required stress levels and by evaluating the results of all of these efforts toward establishing the feasibility of the idea. Since the surface bonding cement appears to have excellent possibilities, an outline for Phase II was developed.

The use of surface bonding cement to accomplish seismic hardening of existing unreinforced masonry walls is a potentially economical solution to a problem that at present only has expensive solutions.

If the use of this material tests out as anticipated, it will result in an immediately available solution for economical hardening of existing unreinforced masonry walls. This solution together with rational engineering judgment could be used to upgrade thousands of buildings in a short period of time.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page
SUMMARY ii
INTRODUCTION 1
SCOPE OF WORK - OBJECTIVES 2
DETAILED REVIEW OF THE RESEARCH AND THE RESULTS 3
COMMON METHODS OF REINFORCING EXISTING MASONRY
CAPACITY OF UNREINFORCED MASONRY IN EXISTING BUILDINGS
AVAILABLE COATINGS FOR MASONRY 11
ANTICIPATED STRESS LEVELS REQUIRED OF NORMAL MASONRY 13
FEASIBILITY OF PROPOSAL AND OBJECTIVES FOR PHASE II
CONCLUSIONS 22
REFERENCES 23
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 25

.

INTRODUCTION

PURPOSE

This report has been prepared to evaluate the feasibility of developing an economical and simple method of strengthening unreinforced masonry to resist seismic induced forces through the use of a coating. This study represents the first phase of a multi-phase program to develop the design criteria required of a coating or surface treatment, the capabilities of existing products and to develop a new product, if required.

GUIDELINES

The feasibility study is based on the use of existing test data, forces resulting from the assumptions in the 1976 edition of the Uniform Building Code and a comparison of the UBC requirements with the requirements of ATC-3 document, "Tentative Provisions for the Development of Seismic Design Regulations for Buildings", January 7, 1977.

METHODOLOGY

The conclusions are based on a review of the existing test data from government and industry, a series of interviews with government and industry personnel, and the application of limited engineering calculations. The conclusions represent the best professional judgment of the authors in evaluating this data in terms of their past experience in the design and rehabilition of structures to resist induced seismic forces.

SCOPE OF WORK - OBJECTIVES

The following is a description of the objectives of this Phase I study:

REINFORCING METHODS

Assemble information related to normal methods of reinforcing masonry walls. This was done through evaluation of the work of our firm and that of others.

CAPACITY OF MASONRY

Assemble information related to the capacity of unreinforced masonry through compilation of existing test data. A review of tests from the V.A. Hospital seismic projects and from Los Angeles City Schools was accomplished.

PROPERTIES OF COATINGS

Research properties and uses of available products to be applied to unreinforced masonry as surface coatings. This included the evaluation of existing test data as well as a review of available literature in the form of both technical papers and product data.

ANTICIPATED STRESS LEVELS

Determine anticipated stress levels which must be developed by masonry panels to resist seismic loads. This was done by initiating calculations for some typical buildings.

FEASIBILITY

Evaluate feasibility of proposal and establish objectives for Phase II. This involved evaluation of all of the data which was accumulated for the first four tasks.

> MARTIN & CAGLEY Structural Engineers Rockville, Maryland

-2-

COMMON METHODS OF REINFORCING EXISTING MASONRY

A review of the criteria which is presently used for rehabilitation of existing buildings indicates that the governing criteria of the various codes normally require that all unreinforced structural masonry be strengthened in one of two ways. Both of these methods involve the use of gunite or concrete.

RIB METHOD

Ribs or columns of concrete or gunite are incorporated into existing masonry to support vertical loads and lateral forces which are normal to the wall. Typical details of an installation of ribs without a membrane are shown in Figure 1.

In this case, the masonry is assumed to stiffen the wall for in plane shear forces, but the gunite or concrete ribs are assumed to take all of the shear.

RIB PLUS MEMBRANE METHOD

The second method of reinforcing existing masonry involves the use of the same gunite or concrete vertical ribs and an additional gunite membrane applied to the surface of the wall. Typical details of this method are shown in Figure 2.

With this method the gunite membrane is assumed to take all of the shear forces parallel to the wall, i.e., the in plane forces.

There are apparently no test results of any consequence for this type of rehabilitation of existing masonry but these two methods are basically the only ones in use. Some testing of this approach should be developed for comparison with the surface coatings method.

Extensive discussions with government engineers in California have revealed that, particularly in rehabilitation of schools, the gunite methods are basically the only ones which are acceptable in lieu of replacing the unreinforced masonry with another load carrying system. Research of available data indicates that the major percentage of seismic rehabilitation work which has been done is in California and the above methods are virtually the only ones used in lieu of demolition.

-3-



Figure 1



Figure 2

CAPACITY OF UNREINFORCED MASONRY IN EXISTING BUILDINGS

A review of almost 900 shear tests of unreinforced masonry from existing buildings was accomplished. These tests have been categorized by type of masonry and geographic location. The locations are shown on Figure 3 and the results are shown in Table 1.

TEST DATA REVIEW

The test data came basically from two sources. The Los Angeles City Schools provided some 473 tests of brick masonry and the Veterans Administration provided the masonry test results from their seismic rehabilitation program. The V.A. tests come from their hospitals which are located in Zone 2 or 3 as shown on the 1973 UBC map and did not have a seismic resistant design.

LOS ANGELES CITY SCHOOL MASONRY

The largest portion of the masonry which was tested came from existing brick walls. This is to be expected since the large number of tests made on samples from Los Angeles City Schools were from schools built prior to 1933. Brick masonry bearing walls were quite common during that period of time. No information is available on the exact method of testing or the number of samples that did not hold together long enough to be tested. The results of the Los Angeles tests call the shear value "Shear on Bed Joints". The assumption was made that these tests would compare with the tests from the Veterans Administration.

The balance of the brick masonry tests appear to give values which are twice those in the Western region. The tests in the West averaged 45.8 psi for a test shear value with a standard deviation of 34.8. This could yield a working or UBC code shear value of 25% of 45.8 or approximately 11 or 12 psi. Although the tests in the other areas of the country appear to be higher, such as an average of 152.4 psi in the Northeastern region, the standard deviation is 97.6. It seems reasonable that tests run on existing brick masonry from the West should be conservative for the other regions of the country.



V.A. HOSPITAL MASONRY TESTS

The Veterans Administration tests followed two approaches. The initial tests were run with approximately square samples which were removed from existing V.A. facility walls. The samples were in the range of 2' 8" to 3' 0" square. This procedure which was established for the V.A. by the National Bureau of Standards was quite costly. The per panel cost was approximately \$2000. This writer participated in this type of testing procedure at two V.A. Hospitals and can verify that it was very costly as well as inconvenient since a wall was intentionally damaged and patched. Although every attempt was made to pick locations which would not cause any inconvenience to patients or staff, such was not always possible.

These problems resulted in the development of a second and much more economical procedure. This method involved the use of 6" cores cut from the existing masonry walls. The core is placed in a testing machine horizontally with the bed joint turned to an angle of 15° with the vertical. This is described in Figure 4 which also shows the method for testing square panels. The core method was compared with test results from square brick panels in a report by Testing Engineers, Inc., for the Veterans Administration entitled "Bed-Joint Shear Tests of Cylindrical Cores Compared with Diagonal Compression Tests in Brick Masonry Wallettes". This testing program was carried out using new masonry rather than masonry from existing buildings. The data indicates that the core results are very similar to the panel results. The bulk of the V.A. tests were run using the second method since the costs were only \$200 per sample or 10% of the costs of the initial method.

Supplementary tests conducted by Testing Engineers, Inc., for the V.A. verify that the mortar strength is the controlling factor, or at the very least, the most important factor. For example, when the mortar strength was approximately 4000 psi, the shear test values averaged 346 psi. When the mortar strength was approximately 300 psi, the shear test values averaged 123 psi.

RESULTS

Even though the data is slight in some areas of the country and indicates a wide deviation in test results, it is possibly as good as can be obtained on existing masonry. Since the mortar or bed joint appears to be the weak plane, the workmanship of the mason and the quality of the mortar are all important and vary as people vary. The use of any coating will potentially demand a core test of the in situ masonry to verify the properties of that masonry.

-7-





TABLE 1

		BRICK	CLAY TILE	CONCRETE BLOCK	BRICK & BLOCK	BRICK & BLOCK
NORTH EAST	NO. OF TESTS AVERAGE (PSI) DEVIATION C.O.V.	85 152.4 97.6 64%	66 86.6 51.2 59%	47 74.4 50.9 68%	10 127.8 64.8 50%	Insuffi- cient Data
MIDDLE WEST	NO. OF TESTS AVERAGE (PSI) DEVIATION C.O.V.	39 218.4 97.8 45%	4 62.6 40.9 65%	NO DATA	5 92.9 25.4 27%	NO DATA
SOUTH	NO. OF TESTS AVERAGE (PSI) DEVIATION C.O.V.	55 107.3 85.4 80%	21 112.7 105.1 93%	17 87.0 58.5 67%	9 101.0 35.0 35%	62.7 28.1 45%
WEST	NO. OF TESTS AVERAGE (PSI) DEVIATION C.O.V.	507 45.8 34.8 78%	9 45.0 15.1 34%	Insuffi- cient Data	NO DATA	5 61.3 29.6 48%
NATIONAL	NO. OF TESTS AVERAGE (PSI) DEVIATION C.O.V.	686 73.8 76.1 103%	100 87.4 65.9 75%	64 77.8 52.8 68%	24 110.5 49.1 44%	12 62.1 27.4 44%

AVERAGE MASONRY TEST VALUES -- SHEAR

MARTIN & CAGLEY Structural Engineers Rockville, Maryland

· · — – – –



BED-JOINT SHEAR TEST



DIAGONAL COMPRESSION TEST

Figure 4

AVAILABLE COATINGS FOR MASONRY

PLASTER

Coating of unreinforced masonry for seismic hardening was first considered in the 1950's by the Los Angeles City Board of Education through the use of reinforced plaster. The process is described by Edwin H. Stahl in a paper entitled "Surface Application of Masonry Reinforcement". This involved the use of reinforced cement plaster. For forces parallel to the wall, the shear was assumed to be totally carried by the reinforced plaster with no credit given for the masonry. Apparently this scheme was never used on a total building project. Although it was reported to be less expensive than the conventional gunite and ribs approach, it was still very costly.

SURFACE BONDING CEMENT

One coating product which is available on the market today has a generic name of surface bonding cement or surface bonding mortar. This product was developed in the 1960's by the Research Section of the U.S. Department of Agriculture for use in the construction of concrete masonry walls without mortar.

Three prominent manufacturers of surface bonding cements were contacted and all supplied significant quantities of test data and other detailed information. All of the testing of this product has been on concrete masonry with no bed joints and either with or without grout and reinforcing in the cores. Wall panels of 8" concrete masonry units laid dry have been tested in racking shear and give test values of 30 to 50 psi based on the gross area. The tests were conducted using the procedures in ASTM E72. The surface bonding cement also contributes to a significant improvement in the flexural capabilities of the masonry.

The surface bonding cements are basically Portland cement mortar with glass fibers added. The material may be applied either by hand trowel or by spraying to a thickness of approximately 1/8 inch.

The basic allowable design stresses as they would apply to dry laid concrete masonry and working loads are as follows:

SHEAR:

10 psi based on gross area

FLEXURAL:

HORIZONTAL SPAN:

30 psi based on gross area for running bond

18 psi based on gross area for stacked bond

VERTICAL SPAN:

18 psi based on gross area

Surface bonding cements have been tested on 8" concrete masonry walls to a satisfactory two-hour fire test.

Although other coating materials for masonry are available such as epoxy and plaster, the surface bonding cements appear to yield the most promise.

ANTICIPATED STRESS LEVELS REQUIRED OF NORMAL MASONRY

This study assumes that the basic building which needs to be rehabilitated is the small unreinforced 1, 2 or 3 story masonry bearing wall building. This is the type that exists by the thousands throughout California and other areas of the United States where there is a high seismic risk.

TYPICAL MASONRY STRESSES

A typical small building that is 50' x 100' in plan was selected for study as shown on the sample problem. Stresses were calculated for 1, 2 and 3 story buildings for the 1976 Uniform Building Code, including all four zones. The anticipated shear stresses are all below 20 psi.

Stresses were also determined using the criteria in ATC-3. The masonry was assumed to act as shear walls rather than as unreinforced masonry and masonry stresses were calculated for a maximum velocity of 0.4g and of 0.05g. The reinforced masonry shear wall assumption was used to get a rational value for a rehabilitated building. The anticipated shear stresses for unreinforced masonry by ATC-3 range as high as 65 psi for 0.4g. The maximum 1976 UBC value and the ATC-3 value indicate that they are comparable.

Out of plane forces or forces normal to the plane of the walls have been evaluated for 12" brick walls with 8', 10' and 12' story heights. Those flexural stresses range from 18 psi to 2 psi including the effects of all four 1976 UBC Zones. The tests on dry laid masonry have already indicated that a surface bonding cement with no help from the mortar can exceed these flexural stresses. The ATC-3 requirements appear to require a greater stress which will require flexural testing of mortared masonry with surface bonding cement.

Overturning problems in masonry bearing wall buildings are apparently severe in some cases but may in fact be minimized by the dead weight of the masonry and the assumption of a triangular stress distribution across the wall. Studies of this are being conducted by others. The resultant chord forces will have to be resolved but are not a part of this study. The solutions can be simple exterior application of steel angles or similar tension-capable materials.

> MARTIN & CAGLEY Structural Engineers Rockville, Maryland

-13-

With the addition of a coating, existing masonry will have some ductility and will also achieve a shear capacity derived from the mortar strength and the coating strength. Assuming that the coating will also have a confining effect, it should be reasonable to base the design allowables for 1976 UBC stresses and ATC-3 stresses at 25% to 30% of test values.

Z	A begin and a	MARTIN & CAGLEY		STRUCTU	RAL ENG	JINEERS
н	2	Architect			Sheet	of
4	AG	Project NATIONAL SCIE	NCE FOUND	DATION	Job no	
Σ	<u> </u>		<u> </u>		Oate	
		UBC SIKES	555		Engineer	<u></u>
1	TYPICAL	EXAMPLE 1:	a-	A LILIEODM BU	III DING (ODE
	¥	1001	FIN	STORY HEI	GHT = 10	101
			<u>الـ</u> ر	O" THICK SOL	ID BRICK	WALLS
	50%	WT= 20 PBF	DIA	PHRAGM IS A	SSUMED	TO BE
	OPEN P	RTITION LOAD	FL	EXIBLE.		
		=20 PGF	PO EX	rces divide Terior Wall	Equally S.	6T 9
		۲ ۳ ۳	Т	Т	BA	SE
	1 CTOPN	LONG	, SIDE	SHORT SIDE	SHE	AR
	1 STORY	400- 900K		0.07	14	151 1 / 2K
	3 STORY	1400K	0,15	0.21	26	27K
	\/=	ZKCGIW = (1.0)(1.33	(0, 4)(0)	$\lambda = 0.19 \lambda $		
	v	(CG = 0.14)				
			BAGE G	HFAP		
		W ZONE4	ZONE	3 ZONE	2	ZONE 1
		V=0,19W	V=0.141	V=0.0	7~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	V=0.04W
	1 STORY	400K 74.5K	56.01	c 28.0	ŋK .	160K
	2 STORY	900F 167.6F	1260.0	K 63.0)K	36.0K
	3 STORY	400 200, 1-	196,0	- 98.0		66.0~
		MAGONRY GHEAR	STREGGE	G AT BAGE	(PSI)	
			ZONE4	ZONES ZO	DNE2	ZONE 1
	1 STORY	Short Direction*	5	4	2	1
		LONG DIRECTION	3	2	1	1
	2 STORY	Short Direction*	12	9	4	3
		LONG DIRECTION	6	4	2	1
	3 STOR	GHORT DIRECTION*	18	14	٦	4
		LONG DIRECTION	9	· 	3	2
	. 4					
	* S T	REGGES IN WALL WIT	H 50% C	PENINGS		
		I HURUNL VINCE FI				

-15-

	MARTIN & CAGLEY		AL ENGINEERS
± 🕺 📖 🗉	Architect	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	_Sheetof
A A C	Project NATIONAL SCIE	ENCE FOUNDATION	Job na
Σ N O	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Date
	ATC-3 STRESSES - UN	JREINFORCED MAGONRY	 Engineer
TYPICAL	EXAMPLE 2a:	BAME BUILDING AG IN E	EXAMPLE 1
	TC-3 V= Call	$+ C_6 = 1/2_0 G/PT$	- 43
			K
R=1.2 G=15	UNREINFORED MAGONRY	TABLE 2-A, p. 1-1 TABLE 2-C, p. T-1	o 3 type c gou
0.05< A1<0	.40	TABLE RA-1, P. RA	-1
	•		
	TR= 0.05hn/10		
FOR 3 G	STORY, 50'X 100' BUILDING	2 STORY	ISTORY
R SHOR	T = 0.05(30)/150 = 0	0.21 0.14	0.07
RLONG	G = 0.05(30)/100 = 0	0.15 0.10	0.05
CS NEED	NOT EXCEED 2.0A1/R	= 2.0(0.4)/1.2 = 0.0	07
		2,0(0.05)/1,2 = 0.0	78
Co:	(@ A2=0.40)	3 STORY 2 STO	ry 1story
	short direction	1.70 2.2	4 3.56
	LONG DIRECTION	2.14 2.8	4.47
		UGE 0.67 =	CS MAX
	$(@A_2 = 0.05)$		
	Short Direction	0.23 0.3	0 0.48
	LONG DIRECTION	0.29 0.3	5 O.CO
		LGE 0.08 =	CS MAX
		@ A2= 0.40	@A2= 0.05
	h	Force Stress F	orce stress
1 STORY	" SHORT DIRECTION" 40	0K 168K 19 psi	ank 2 psi
	LONG DIRECTION	9 psi	je i psi
2 STORY	(SHORT DIRECTION * 900	ok GOOK 42 psi	48K 3 psi
	LONG DIRECTION	21 psi	2 pei
3 GTORY	SHORT DIRECTION # 140	0K 938K 65psi 1	12K Spsi
	LONG DIRECTION	33 psi	4 psi
*ATP	SCARA IN LINE LUTU RA	OBELILICE MAN P	
OTHE	ER REINFORCING16-	VIO UFENINGO MAY KE	

	MARTIN & CAGLE		STRUCTURA	LENGINEERS
	Architect		Śł	eetof
A A A A	Project NATIONAL SCI	ENCE FOUND	ATION Jo	b no
Σ			Da	
	ATC-3 STRESSES -	REINFORCED MA	BONRY Er	gineer
TOLON		SHEAR WALL		
ITPICAL	EXAMPLE 2D:	SAME E	DUILDING AS IN	EXAMPLE 1
	ATC-3 V=	$=C_{SWD} + C$	$S = 1.2 A_2 S / RT$	r 79 R
R=1 M	REINFORCED	- TABLE	2-1 $pT = 10$	
6= 1.5		TABLE	2-G. D. I-13. TY	pe c goil
0.054 A.LO.	40	TABLE	RA-1. P. RA-1	
	TR= 0.05hn/VE	5		
FOR 3	STORY, 50'X 100'B	uilding	2 STORY	1 STORY
TR SHO	$p_{\rm RT} = 0.05(30)/\sqrt{5}$	5 = 0.21	0.14	0.17
TR LON	$1G = 0.05(30)/\sqrt{10}$	5=0.15	0.10	0,05
CS NI	EED NOT EXCEED	$2.0A_{\rm I}/R =$	2.0(0.4)/4 =	0.20
	(0)		2,0(0.05)/4=	0.025
Cg:	(@A2 = 0.40)	3 STORY	2 STORY	1 STORY
GH	ORT DIRECTION	0.51	0.67	1.07
	ng direction	0.04	0.84	1.34
	(QA - QOE)	L	5 = 0.20 = C	5 MAX
	$(@A_2=0.09)$	0.07	$\rho \rho a$	·
	DIRECTION	0,07	0.01	0.14
	ng direction			0,10
				5 Max
			$@A_n = 0.40$	$a \Delta a = 0.05$
		W Fr	ORCE STREAS	FORCE STRESS
1 STOR	Y SHORT DIRECTION	J* Inok	Rok (ADSI	int Ipsi
	LONG DIRECTION	400-	305	lon losi
2 STOR	Y SHORT DIRECTIC	N*amk	ROK 13051	nak 200
	LONG DIRECTIC	N.	Opsi	Los Ipsi
3 5708	ey short directio	N MOOK	renk 20psi	35K 3PSi
	LONG DIRECTIC	N IT C	10 psi	I psi
· ·				
* STREE	SES IN WALLS WI	TH 50 % C	PENINGS MAY	require
OTHE	k keinforcing.	-17-		



-19-

Willco Building, 6000 Executive Boulevard, Rockville, Maryland 20852 (301) 881-9050

FEASIBILITY OF PROPOSAL AND OBJECTIVES FOR PHASE II

FEASIBILITY

The proposal to develop an economical and simple method of reinforcing masonry to resist seismic forces through the use of a coating is definitely feasible. The gunite methods of reinforcing masonry are apparently effective but very expensive. Experience shows that this type of solution could easily cost \$10 to \$12 per square foot of existing building. Depending on the wall to floor area ratio, a solution using a surface bonding cement could be 25% or less of the cost of the gunite method.

There are apparently ample tests on mortared masonry from existing buildings available and also many tests of dry laid masonry with a surface bonding cement. There are no tests available with surface bonding cements used on mortared masonry. This is where the objectives of Phase II begin.

OBJECTIVES

The objectives of Phase II are as follows:

- 1. Build and test sample panels of mortared brick masonry and surface bonding cement in racking shear and flexure.
- 2. Test 6" cores to corroborate the core test and wall panel test values for a mortared brick masonry with surface bonding cement. This program would be similar to that done for the V.A. by Testing Engineers, Inc.
- 3. Evaluate the test results of this first series of tests against the anticipated required stress levels.
- 4. If core relationship can be corroborated, prepare cores from surface bonding cement coated existing masonry taken from California brick masonry buildings. This relates to the Los Angeles City School tests which were significantly lower than those from other parts of the country.

If results of objective 2. are not conclusive, then it will be necessary to test panels from existing California buildings.

- 5. Evaluate the test results of this second series of tests against the anticipated required stress levels.
- 6. Check test results with samples from the Northwest, Northeast and Southeast.
- 7. Run tests on California masonry using the gunite method of rehabilitation. This will give a basis for comparing the surface bonding cement solution with the presently accepted method.
- 8. Test samples with California masonry and surface bonding cement using cyclic or dynamic procedures for loading.
- 9. Prepare design criteria for the use of surface bonding cements for seismic hardening of unreinforced masonry.

CONCLUSIONS

The use of surface bonding cement to accomplish seismic hardening of unreinforced masonry walls is a potentially economic solution to a problem that at present only has expensive solutions.

This solution does not address all of the problems inherent in hardening of existing building such as anchoring of diaphragms or lack of chord elements but it does offer substantial additional safety for the buildings' inhabitants and those people outside the building who might get hit by falling masonry. The confining effect of the coating and the ductility it furnishes are equally as important as the added shear capacity.

If the use of this material tests out as anticipated, it will result in an immediately available solution for economical hardening of existing unreinforced masonry walls. This solution together with rational engineering judgment could be used to upgrade thousands of buildings in a short period of time.

REFERENCES

- 1. Amrhein, J. E., "Reinforced Masonry Engineering Handbook", Second Edition, Masonry Institute of America, 1973.
- 2. California, State of, "Title 21, Office of Architecture and Construction", State of California, 12-25-71. Excerpts regarding rehabilitation of school buildings.
- 3. Fattal, S. G. and Cattaneo, L. E., NBSIR 74-520, "Evaluation of Structural Properties of Masonry in Existing Buildings", July 1974.
- 4. Long Beach, City of, "Subdivision 80--Earthquake Hazard Regulations for Rehabilitation of Existing Structures Within the City", Long Beach Municipal Code, 6-29-71.
- 5. Preece, F. R., "Report of Bed-Joint Shear Tests of Cylindrical Cores Compared with Diagonal Compression Test of Brick Masonry Wallettes", Testing Engineers, Inc., 1975.
- 6. Preece, F. R., "Supplemental Report, Additional Bed-Joint Shear Tests of Cylindrical Cones and Diagonal Compression of Brick Masonry Wallettes", Testing Engineers, Inc., 1976.
- 7. Santa Rosa, City of, Ordinance 1700 and Resolution No. 9820, "A Resolution of the City of Santa Rosa Establishing Criteria for the Inspection of Buildings Within the City of Santa Rosa", Santa Rosa, California.

8. Stahl, Edwin H., "Surface Application of Masonry Reinforcement", 1962.

9. Veterans Administration, Office of Construction, Handbook H-08-8, "Earthquake Resistant Design Requirements for VA Hospital Facilities", June 1973, Rev. May 27, 1977.

7 | CAGLEY

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The writer wishes to thank his staff for their efforts on this research project. In particular the help of C.A. Stillions and M. Goss has been invaluable.

The following people outside our office have provided consultation and assistance:

James Lefter	- Director of Civil Engineering Veterans Administration
Donald K. Jephcott	- Principal Structural Engineer Office of the State Architect State of California
William A. Lamb	- Chief Structural Engineer Los Angeles City School District
D. M. Murphy	- Reinforced Concrete Products Engineer Owens-Corning Fiberglas Corp.
Richard Klausmeier	- Q-Bond Corporation of America
Friedrich Goeman	- Director of Corporate Research Services W. R. Bonsal Company

-25-

MARTIN & CAGLEY Structural Engineers Rockville, Maryland

CAGL